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An Introduction to this Centennial Story
by the Rt. Rev. Wme Be Spofford Jre

b Bishop of the Diocese of Eastern Cragen

A small wooden church nestles below a hilly dn & rugged canyen,in the very
heart of Eastern Oregon. It has stood there for one sentury now, nobtwithe
standing the pressures of the doping hill, and sharing the life of Christ
wlth the community and the ares. During that century, there have been many
changes, Miners, ranchers, loggers, wrallread personnel have used this
Churche S0, too, have their femilies, It has had, and had, lay-readers,
gullds, aitar workers, asolytes, Church School students, confirmation clagse
e8e As & congregation, it has never been lsrge. And, unless there are gige
nificant population shifts and sociolegical changes, it will never be large,

But faithfulness mmet not be measured in terms of garthly statistics &%
success!l Its minisiry has been of all Bortswme=fulletime paid elergy: wan-
dering mission workersy and, currently, during its one~hundredth yoar, it

is served by a nop~gcclesisstically employed priest, who eerns his living
as a vige~principal of =2 small town high school and temcher. What the future
holds for that ministry, at this Juncture, God alene knows.

Hewever, a chureh which can stand for 100 yemrm in that setting is worthy of
its memorles and is due homor. This booklet is about St. Thomas? Church, in
Canyon City, and itz mimistry in the large avea of Grant Counbty. May the
congregation always be able togtruthfullycelebrate its smalliness, beoause
in such a state of being it has a chanse to come to o real understanding

of the Chréatian communlty or Keinoni@,eeed gift which it has to share with
Ged's entlre creation. So, read, and enjoye + o o

WM. B. SPOFFORD JR.
s Bishop of Festern Oregon.



THE FIEST HUNDRED YEARS
of
ST. THOMAS® EPISCOPAL CHURCH, in CANYON CITY, OREGON.
18761976 -

an histordc Church in an historic Citye

by the Rev. Louls L. Perkins, Historiographer
of the Episcopal Diocese of Lastern Cregon.

Proverbs 205127 "The spirit of man is the candle of the Lordl®
Proverbs 31:18 "and his candle geeth not out, by any nighti®

L )

A_few years before the drapmtic discovery of geld near that famous Sutters
Mill in California (in 1849) a party of covered-wagon immigrents, golng
west toward Portland and the Willsmette Valley, were travelling along the
old Oregon Trail-—-but somewhat to the south of its customary landmarks,
Then at one point en their aeuthexn detour they noticed, as they samped
for the might, some "lumps of a ﬁﬁéﬁy iomking yellow metal® in the bhed of

& certain small creek nesrby. As they velated this Imppening to friends

later on they said, "It was just a small oreek leading out of the Blue
Mountaingh in'sagtral Oregone But merely as =z matter of curdosity they put some
of those small rocks inte a "hlue tucket™, and carried thew along as they
tr@kké& toward The Dallss in thelr sov@rwﬁQW&gmna

About fifteen years after that, as a partg of gold prospeciers were heading
directly west for the now celebrated gold fields of Califormia, they heard

about the story of those Willismette Valley immigrants who had Found "lukps
of a rusty looking yellow metal” which they had carried to The Dalles ‘fin
& blue bucket" as curiosities. "Maybe, just maybe® those gold prospactors
thought, '*those rocks were not Just ordisary curiesities!" But...where wes
that "small creek leading out of the Blue Hountaingeosq?

With this as a cue those gold prospectors decided that perhaps they didst
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L whele population of Multnomah County (in and around Portland) was listed
in the Federal Census of 1860 as having only 4151 inhebitents. And Wasce
County=—=-which at that time meant all of Oregon eest of the Cescade Mounw~
teingmw~listed only 1809 peeple. Note that later on every other county in
Eastern Oregon (there were 18 in 1974) was subdivided at one t{ime or mpothe
er from this originel Wasco County!

Now thiz gold fever in Eastern Ovegen sucked in people from all direche
wiong in the U.S.A. Am & result,the Oregon State Lagislatur@m~<prﬁg@n had
only been admitted as a state in the Ymion in 1859) set aside Baker {ounsy
in 1862 (with the community of Auburn,; 12 miles seuth of Baker asm its county
meg@g and in 1864 the Oregon Legislature set ssids Grant County, with Can-
yon City as lts county meat.

By the time of the Federal Cemsus in 1870, the popmlation of Grant County
had shet up from almost atthing to 2251 inhabitantse—id03 in 1880w
5210 in 1890w~~and 5908 in 1900, This was Grant County's high point in
populatien for a long time, Net till affer 1930 did a slow increasme hegin
againe

Most of the people in Grant County lived in and arouwnd the gold touwn of
Canyon City. But a few lived 15 mlles cmsi of Canyon in what was galled
Frairie City-~-a farming and lumbering comsumiity. But gold seellng and
gold mining was the econemic base of mest of the peeple Living in Grant
County at that time, Even these in Prairie City wers really a BRppert
group for all this gold minming in terms of meab-catile, vegetables, and
timber to shere up the mine shafiz and to¢ build the homes and the shacks
in which the winers lived,

The national Episcopal Church ment its first misalensry Bishop to the
Pacific Nerthwest sewen years befere the gold strikes at Sumpter and Can-
yon City. This firet missienary bishop wes the Rt. Rev, Thomas Flelding
Seoti—w-with jurisdiction ever both the Oregon and the Washington Terri-
tories. Scoti arrived by sailing ship "around the Horm" ia Portland on
April 12, 1854,
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Merris wes consecratsd a Bishop in New York City om Decembaw 3rd, 1368@
After mome trevel around Pennsylvenia and New Yérk (State), to raise funds
for the “aschools of the Epleeopal Church in the Northwesh' Bilshop Herris
salled on an ocean voyage Lo Danssm: across the isthmus by train: then on
a second ocean voyage up the wemt cosst to Portland--warriving there on
April 21, 1869,

| With the Civil War énding in April 1863; with the Episcepal Chureh pewunited
between ita separated northern apd southern dlpcesss {(in Ooteber 18&5}, and
with patlonal missiensry funds nov more available, the guestion was raised
agein ebeut the Eplscopal Church going esst over the Cascade Mountains Yinto
these mining regiens ef Eastern O gon,

On the other hsnd, with the main line of Lhe Unlon Paoific Rallroad come
pleted (in May 1869) oleer seross the middle expsnse 0f America, psople
began coming mere #asily dnto Esstern Oregon. They came now by rvailroad to
Green River, Wyoming, and thenes by covesred wagon over the shorter run

of the 01ld Oragon Trail. They came for catils ranching end lumbering as
wekd as for gold mining.

In 1870 Bishop Morris first came esst from Portland into this region by
vagon~-stage to The Palles, and Pendlegon. Then by herse-back he rede over
these formidable Blue Moupiaina beyend Pendleten in 1872 snd remched La
Grande, Cove, Baker. This tiuwe he breught with him an “intinerant preacher
for the Dsstern Oregon missionfewes very remakeble and dedicated oleric
by the mame of The Rev. Seuben Lo Nevius,

Reuben Hevius wes {irst n Jeung pubiic mohool tessher in rural Georgia,
As such in hie early days e lived and bmarded in the homs of the Fav,
Thomen Flelding Bootiwew~latar chosen as the fipst Epimcopsl VBishep of
Oragon (1853~1868), Usder the inflvenss of Scott, Nevius studisd snd enw
tered the Eplecopak mirdatry, in Georgla. From 1855 to,1866 Neviue merved
in Chris$tes Church, Tusealessa, Alalbama, But here Neviue lost i wife
and three small children in = yellov Bver epidemio durdng the last monthe
ef the Civil wer,

Shortly after this acute tragedy Reuben Nevius wrete te Bishop Morris
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with 15 more miles still to ride wntil we came %o Canyen Clty. It was o
very fatiguing journey of thres dayi, much of the time over very rough

roade Finally I came to Canyon City, where there is much promise snd usew
fulness for the Churche!

Ten yeare later when thease trails and "roads" had been lmproved somewhat,
Morris has this to say in hig convecation charge in Portland in 1883,

"I have crossed the Blue Mountains six times by now, since sur last Cone
vocation, with a veriety of expesrienses, both hot and coeldwew -%0° at Pane
dlston on one of my trips. Mud and snov, dead-sxle é%% buckha&rdgiggﬁ with
the smstomary bed and board that are furnished along the way, which are

quite enocugh to satikefy the most ardent desires of these who wishk to rough
itgw
(1) "demd-mxle" means going in a wegon that has ne aprings at all,

{2} "buckboard" means a sarriage rig_wﬁieh hazg a slight epriag
effect, caused by the bending of the long woeden slats that
suppirt the rig.

So the Eplscopal Church cams to Ganyén City, Oregeni

True, it wes now twelve years sinece gold had been first discoversd there,
During that time this rough and ready minlng town bhad grown srudely withe
out any overall city plam. No doubt in those fivst twelve years some
Christian people (of other dencminations) esrried out some mort of inforw
mel Christisn home-worship in that mining town of about 2,000 inhebltants,
But when the Episcopaliams under finally moved ahead under Merris and
Nevius® imitietives to build a church edifice in 1876, these Episcopalisng
{and others) were erecting the first Church building of any sort in Can-
yon City! &nd actually St. Thomas' Eplscopal Church wes to be the firsh
Church by any name (but one) in all of Grant County. For almost at this
same time (1876) the Methodists were erecting a Church building in Prairie

Citym~wl5 miles ecast of Canyon City.

The deed for the land on which these sarly Episcopalians would soon build
their church wae glven them (for $1) by Mr. and Mrs., Gec, B Psaring, on
Harch 20, 1876. Geo. Fearing was the owner and cperator of the largest mer-
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tory) is called locally a "Nevius Chureh, For it wes the Reve. Reuben D,
Hevinz whese vision, initiastive, planning and personsl canvesaing of pledg-
e8 and contributiens, which csused these and many other Churches to be ailit.
Irue, the architectusl pleans cams from the Fpiscopal Church's genersl miss~
iopary headquarters in New York City. But i1t was Reuben Nevius whe saw %o
it that these many churches were erescted aceording to these varitisulsr
Planse o o o

le Steep roof, at about a 60° pitch,

2e Selid, rough hewn timbers, of aative Ponderoma plne,

S Almest vectangular floor plan.

b Irom braces inside at the eave level, which held the walls in

place from the spreading effect of the higslanted roof above.

Inside theme "Nevilus" Churches there wers low-style; rough-hewn pewmoe..
plain panelled side walles . cenarrow, tall side Windows...an organ at the
backessond & bell in the belfry up at the front end of the ridge pole,

8ix out of seven Nevius Churches still survive to this day in Bastern Ore-
BOBs o & o o =

ls Old 8t. Pawlts, The Dalles, which ig not used for religlous purpogw
es at the prasent timec...rented sut es a communlty museum,

2o 014 8t. Peterts, La Grands, which was torn down in 1926, to make
way #or the present church buliding.

Je8ts Stephents, Baker, still in active use for 100 years-—-but somewhat
remodelled in 1947, by lengthening the chamnesl and attaching wings.

by Ste James!?, Hiltor-Freswater, originelly built for the congregation
at Weston, Oreww-but which was hauled bodily overland in 1946 for
sctive uae in Hilton-Freewater, Ore,, te the present time.

5e Ascenslon Church, Cove, which was 100 years old in July, 197w
used now mainly as & chapel for the camps end conferences at Cove
Summer School,

6o Ste John's Church, Union, torn down in 1927, The dissembled lumber
was then hauled overland te Ascensien Suamsr School at Cove, Am it
was reassembled th@ﬁ@ on the scheol grounds the steep roof was given
up, but the original shape of the lewer part of the church was re-
teined, The resulting building was umed for years ag & dinlng ball
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~ing in 1870 to 5948 in 1900, It never wenmt higher till in the 1930%m.,
And since those figures are for all of Grant County: and since about 2/ %8
of these people then lived in and around Canyon Citys it is perfectly ob=
vieus that the population of Canyon City (even with those in the rough
nining camps nearby included) never went much above 5,000 soulz. The fig~
urs of 15,000, therefore, is just another one of thesme boom-town yarpsl

E] % # = & % & . L
So the Eplscopal Church came to the geld-rush town of Canyon City in 1874
1876, At almost the very mame time Nevius sterted the Episcopsl Church in
nearby Prairie Citye--15 miles east of Canyon. The first services there
vers uader the auspices of that indefatiguable wissionary-~the Rev, Reub-
en D, Nevius. Inltially the services wers designed to be held with a joint
use of the lecal Grange Hall in Prairie Citysesthen in a planming stage,
From Nevius' esrly notes we learn that Tprovision was explored to eccupy
this Grange Hall jointly, then abuilding"e...."The Church part of the
Grange Hallweuld be had by opening folding doors imte the larger pert of
the hall.®

But this scheme for jeint eccupaucy never materialized, even with Nevius,
the master church builder, to help it along. Pessibly this jeint ocupancy
was drepped when “a whele city block" was given to Bishop Merzls by a
local resident for an Eplsmecpal Church in iis own buildisg in that citye
Hence, a separate, individual church bullding was sohn erected in Prairie
City about two years after St. Thomas® in Canyen Clty was begun. The Fraje
rie City Church wes omlled St. John's,

Prairle City had nothlng to do directly with gold-mining. But indirectly
Prairie City wight be called logiatically = support base for the gold mine
ing thet was booming along in Canyon City. For Prairie was & form and lume
ber commmnity, which supplied meat and vegetables for these who lived and
worked at Canyom. Besldes, in its lumbsring activity&?r&iri@ Clty supplied
the timber which built the homes and shacks at Canyon; and the ‘strong
logs and beams which lined the tunnels for pit mining in the Capyon Creek
hillsides. Alsoy ae we shall e later on in this Centenmial Stery, it was
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cattle raising, and lumbering, Also Canyon City held on stubbornly to
its eaxly astablishgd living as the county seat of Grant County,

When populations and fortunes have changed, some early designated county
seats have been actually stolen by lecal vigilantes in the middle of s0me
dark might. Some county seats have bsen “stelen by pelitical pressures
applied to the members of the State Legislature,

For instance, the people of Burna, Ore., at one time stole the county
seat by vigilantes from a place abeut 12 miles northeast of Burns, eslled
Harney, or Ft. Herney. The county seat of Baker County, which was first
established in & small community called Auburn, wes stolen by vigllantes
in the middle of the night, and later validated by the Oregon State Legks
~lature te be thereafter at Raker Clty. The county seat of Upion County
was first (1864) in the small city of Unfon. Fut in 1890 when the city of
La Grande boomed with the coming of the Union Pacific Railr@aﬁsthe leglia.
lature itself “smple" the county seat sway from Union and decreed that
henceforth it was to be in Ia Grande. But Canyon City has managed to hang
on to its status &s the county seat of Grant County agalnst "all enemien,
forelgn and demeastic! for 112 yearal..oeven when the old court beuse

in Canyom Gity burned in 1953,4..80d even theugh Canyon City's pepulstion
is now down to lesm than &0 people!

But all thru these “changez and chences of this mertal kife " St. THomas®
Episcopal Church has maintained itself lotact; and it has made its Christ
~ian influence felt all over Grant County, even when few church PEOPLB e
very fevw at timsg—--were nctiwe Christians.

Now, it wasnt so mueh the fppod

¢ professzienal clergy who sustained

Sts Thomss® Church midst its many difficulties all down the yearse In fact,
when one "looks at the record" (as Al Smith used te say on the "raddie")
it ig quite obvieus that faithful, comuitted, long-time devoted clergy at
S5ts Thomas' were few and far between. Ofcourse, the Rev, Repbbn Do Nevius
was & notable exseption at the beginning. And that sturdy and devoted Bp,
Morris was there as often as possible to back Nevius and others UDe
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the Bishop and me into the road, leaving a most thore wreck and ruins"l
past the skill of any ordinary wheelwright to repair.n

In the year 1885 Bishop Morris sags in his Journal of ene of his other
arducus journeys, "In June of 1885 1 went south after servims in §anyen
City into the Harpey Valley. Thence I went east to Prineville, and on

north to The Dallesm, sll in a country that I had never before visited,"

By 1860 the whele economy of Canyon City and its vicinity began to shifi

from gold mining to lumbering and cattle raising. Canyon City itself cone

tinved ofcourse in its established "business' ss the county seat of Grant

County. Much gold was still te be had for the digging~~-wostly by the

hydraulic process. But gost of thhe gold that had been zo easlly mined at
o first by the placer process was Just no longer there, Amddthe most detery~—
3 -ined efforts of deep pit digging brought little profitable reitwrn,

The chief factor that made this economic shange~over posasible and profite
able was the coming of the railroad, even into the John Day Valley eof
Grant Ceunty. First by 1869 the transecontinental lins of the Union Paolf-—
~i¢ RR was laid out clesr across the kiddle band of the western emd Heoun
~tain states from Omaha (Neb.) to Cheyenne (Wyea), to Green River (Wyos),
to Ogden (Ubah), to Reno (Neve), to Osklend (Cale)s Then begirning in
1885 the Oregon Short Line wes construcied from Granger (Wyos)=--about 30
mlles west of Green River (Wyoe)---northwest thru Idahe end Oregon (hy

way of Baker, L& Grande, Pendleten, The Dallégmewall in Oregon) to Porge
land, Ore.

- Ther by 1890 the scheme of & narrow-gauge branch line wag begun from Baker
4 City west about 28 miles to the gold fields of Sumpter thru the tall stands
of virgin Pondercsa pine Pimber along the way. From Sumpter this branch
line=—wgalled the Sumpter Valley RR~--was laid out beyond over the gtesp
Blue Mpuntains and then on down into the John Day Valley s far as Prajre

le City. This colorful harrow-gauge railroad reached Sumpter in 1896. Tt
was extended over the mountains to Prairie by 1910,

1t wes this railveoad that made the shifs profitable, from gold gining t¢
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folik who claim any comnection with the Episcopal Church in Canyon City.

I found everything &m & chaotic state at St. Thomas' Church, Really, Bishe
opgthere 18 no congregation, no life, no enthusissm for amy real Church

works ™

Nevertheless, Goodheart had enough stamima to mtay on in this difficwlt

ner of 1905, During his tenuve,
"The Church was really rencyated, and begun sll over agein. Several suc-

£ cessful services were held in ranch houses in the Izes neighborhoold——-a

sltuation for five years, until the mm

district where an Episcepal cleric was an unknown quantity, and where one
woman elweye referred te the Epimcopsl Book of Common FPrayer as that
tstrangs Eplescopal Bibletiv

Yet, for all these yemrs, it was still the faithful few lay peeple at
Canyon City who kept "ythe candle of the Lerd" burming in such a way that
"t went not out by auy nlght’] They were the ones who, as someene salid
later on, "pulled the dying embers together and kept the sperks alive."

For exswple, it wes this same Rev, Mr, Harris whe in 1900 in his mnmual
report to the Blshep &t the Dleocesan Cenvention that year said Yupen cerw
tain festivels the ladies of that ilmner faithful group even acted as lay
readers themselves, sc that the services of the Episcopal Church were
somehiow kept moving. They told me to tell you, Bishop, that they were al-
~ways looking for a prieste--but if yeu had mo priest for them, they

would accept & demcon~~1f you had ha deagon, they would teke a lay resader
--=0r @VeR & Weman lay reader if that ware all you could send theml®™

Some of these "who kept the sparks alive®, and maybe ons of these who
passed on such insistent words to thelr Bisheop waz such & women as Mre.

~ Neil Nivens, who was Sunday Schgol principal for "many, many years——-and

then some'". The records do net say exactly how many. Another was a leng-
time,faithful woman by the nsme of Mrs. Ruth Solingere-—-who died in her
late eighles on March 20, 1953, This death oecurred when the Rev. Albert
Allen was the vicar in charge st St. Themss® Church. 'Surely she was one't,
Allen remarked at her fumeral, "who kept the sparks alive for 40 years
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Epimcopal Church in this new District. Robert Paddock wes consscrated
Bishop of Esstern Qregon on December 28, 1907, in Trinity Church, in down-
town New York City,

Paddock lefi almost immediately for his western Jurisdiction. But though
from the "sidemalks of New XangéﬁPaddcsk knew this weatern country from
childheod. For he was the oldest son of a former Missionary Bishep of the
Washington Territory---the Rb. Reve John Ae Paddogk—e-Daca 15, 1880~to=
March 3, 189%. For when the Churchjin Oregon became a Diocese is 1880,
under Bp. Morris, the Episcopal Church to the morth in the Washingbon
Territory was separated from Oregon as & Missienary Dhebtrict, snd Bishop
John Paddock was elected iis Ffirst Miszlenary Bishop.

After conslderable exploratory trevel all over his new Jurisdict one—=by
railrond, stege and herse-back, Bishop Reberi Paddock gautiired his olergy
-—=only four at that time---and some lay delegates together for a first
Pistrict Convocation at 5t, Paul's Church, The Dalles, in September 1008,
Besides these four clergy, there were but two lay readers, and one woman

deaconness. But one of thess few four clergy wap that stalwart ploneer
migslopary by the name of Beuben De Neviugw——lie again as Rectér of St.
Paul's Church, The Dalles. For from absub 1890 to 1906 Nevius had been at
work in the Weshinglon Territory under Robert Paddockts father at Walla
Walla, Clarksten, Lewiston (ida.), and seversl other towns along the newly
developing Northern Pesific Reilroad,

In the 18 counties of the Eastern Oregon Hissionary Districht in 1908 theve

‘were approximately 130,000 inhabltants.: It wes apbrea of about 65,483
-mquare miles, That mede an averags of sbeut 2 people per squars miled

In this vast area the Episcopal Church had about 500 commuricants, plus
about 500 other baptized persons, in some 10 scatfered congregations,
Most of these 130,000 people of Eastern Oregen, and the 1,000 Episcopal-
isns in this arss,lived along the Union Pecific Rellread in the northesss
in Hood River, The Dalles, Pendleton, La Grande, Balter, Onbaric, etc,

Some othera lived along the nerrow-gauge Sumpber Valley branch line out

of Baker in Sumpter, Austin, ané Prairie City. But then there were theoass



The Rt. Rev. Benjamin Wistar Morris, ..
from 1868-1907, After then Eastern Ore

Bishop of the Episcopal Church for the whole State of Oregon
gon was set aside as a separate jurisdiction,



A - The Rev. Reuben Nevius, pioneer missionary priest inC. City.
B = Summer overview of Canyon City from a southeast hilltop.

C - Entrance view to Canyon City, about 1900,

D - The Guild Hall, N.W. across the street from St., Thomas'.

E - Sumpter Valley R.R. entering Prairie City, about 1925,

F - The Sunday School at St, Thomas' Church, 1927,




A - Ground breaking for Barth Hall in
[,k(gsﬂ with the Rev. Albert Allen

officiating.

B - Barth Hall almost complete in 1958

C - The Rev. Albert Allen being or-

dained as priest by Bishop Barton in
St. Thomas' Church, 1951,

D - "Bert" Allen dressed up as Reuben

Nevius in '62-days Centennial
parade, 1962,
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A - The original organ for
St. Thomas' that"came
around the Horn".

B - Hazel Morrison Perkins
1937, <

C =~ The Choir entering St.
Thomas' Church, about
1925,

D - Interior of St, John's
Church, Prairie City,
Christmas 1924, .,
-26° outside!

E - Exterior of St, John's
Church, Prairie City.
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let there be the customary Methodist Chureh Berwices at 10 or 11 AM, In
the afternoen, at 2 or 3 PM, let us have jeint Sunday School clmsses for
all Christian families and children together: In the evenlng, let us have
a general interdeneminational service of worship for every Christian greup
in that community.

#
Such a scheme worked in a few plae&ag:;mang only & few other denomination-

al Churches. Such a scheme was aceepted by very few Episcopslians of that
day!

Two—-=Bp. Paddock urged that the Episcsopal Church in Easstern Qregon acsept
no momsy subsidy from the national Qissi@ﬂary society of the Episcopal |
Church! Rather, he said, "Let the Episcopalians, and all thess interested

in the Episcepal Church, pay for their own religieus 1ife as they go aleng.”
Howsver, Paddeck did make an exception dn receiving his oun aalary and some
travel expense from ""The Domestic and Foreign Misslenary Socieby of the
Proestant Episcopal Chursh in the United States of America' in New York Cldty,

T&ia second principle of Bishop Paddeck didnt work well either! In the first
plage, the Churche—-whether Hethodist, Baptist, Presbyterian, Episcopale-s
wag an institution that hard presaad, pi@néer families were largely unable
ko support out of thelr meager, hard-earned cash inceme in those deys. Most
Esst Oregonieng~--gave for a few large ranchers--hardly had enough oash

to keep bedy and eoul tegether in that uncertain western economy. For ex~

ampley at a large Episcopsl Service in St. Thowes? Church, Canyen Clty, on

one Sundey worgdng in Marsh 190Qe=-when over 100 people ware assembled to-
gether with their own Bishop Paddeclie-the tetel cash income~offering for
that Sunday ameuambted to only $4.311 And that was & gold towa, where ossh was
& ¥t mere plentiful than in other aress..

Such a St Francls scheme of things" which Bishop Paddock had proposad

~would be especislly hard on any clergy whe were not batchelors aa Peadock

was. The "salary" of a loeal cleric with a femily would be only what the
local pseple could afferd to give on that spetwe--plus any addendum that
Bp. Paddock might be able to supplement out of his own gRlarya
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This left the Episcopal Church in Esatern Uregen in a &e@ﬁ@iﬁkc for two

el Episcopal Church meet in Genersel Cone
vention in the fall of 1922, in Portland, Oregon, it elested a missiensry
Bishop in place of Paddeck. The cheice fell to a young (42); able, energetw
ic, committed cleric by the name of Williem Prector Remingbone=mat that time
already in Bishep's orders (since 1918), as the Suffrgan (assistant) Bishmp
of the Episcopal Church in South Dakota,

more years., Then when the natid

With the coming of William Remington the whele pattern of wisslonaxry 1ife
and work thru the Eplscopal Church in Eastern Oregon changed completelymes
and in Cenyon City in particular. Now, cutside resourses could be brought
in to supplement and encourage local Episcopal Church strengthin ' sach and
every coungregation. For Bp. Bemington strongly felt that the chureh as a
whele thru its national missienary sociely sheullgd answer sifectively that
old cry of the missienary field sinee the days of S8t. Paul, pamely, "Come
over and help usi" (Acts 16:9),

Blshop R@mingtan came immedimtely to Emstern Oregen in early Nevember 1922,
And he came hy means of & pew way of transportation for that part of the
country--«by automobile! In fact, he drove im all the way from Seuth Dakota,
and stopped firet at 8t., Stephents Church, Baker. Then he went en to La
Grande, and Pendleten--vhere he mude his home and office. {Paddock hed
lived mostly in Baker, later on in Hesd River, but mostly Ywhewever he

hung up his hatt])

After visiting the larger cengregations aleng the nerthern stretches of
his District, Hemington then reached ewt into the interior snd southern
congregationssss.such as Ontarie, Vele, Burns, Prineville, Bend, Shanike...
and fimally to Prairie City and St. Themas® Church in Canyon City. From
this time on Bp. Remington brought new life, new hopas, new courags, new
strength and help to scatbersd congregationg-—weapeeinlly in isolated
places like Canyon City.

The chief means of asg@ismtance that Bishop Remington brought to bear on the
Church at the lecal level were (1) adequate fiseal support and (2) traiped
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graduate of the Episcopal Theelsgical School in Vambridge, Msam., class

of 1925, He was ordained te the priestheod of the church in Ascensien
Chursh, Cove., Ore., that antumm. After a year of introductory work areung
GCeve and Unien, Spmmer Brown was sent by his bishop to the John Day valley
in the suwmmer of 1926,

He was to be the first full time, resident priest ef the Epimcepal Chursh
for the whele of Grant Ceunty that they bad ever hadl Brown stayed and
worked in this situation for six full years,

At the height of Sumner's work en top of the exasllent work and leadorship
of Miss Charlottse Brown, there were reported &n 1920 to be 109 communlcents
in Ste John's Church, Prairie City....."almost enough to make a parish®,
Bumner saide At 8t. Themas' Church, Canyon City¥s there were reported to be
"about 40", Naturally Prairie City was the best place for Brown to live,
for there was the suitable rectery to live in.

Prairie City was the railhead of the Sumpter Valley RR from Bsker, and

the mainline of the Union Pacific RR beyend. By this cclerful, DAY T OW-ZRLES
railread the Bishop and the Archdeacen could come in and out. Also, the
Browns could use this facility to get eut themselves for business or a
change of scene. From Prairie City Sumner Brown could sravel &g aute to
Canyon City every week and siay in the Uprophetts chamber® hard by St.
Themag'. "That 'prophet's chember' is a trensient rectory for me much of
the time," he said,

The Women's Guild was first orgenmized at S&t. Thomss' in 1889, We have the
first originel book of their constitutien and by~laws, and aome of their
original minutes., It shows a goodly group of women determined apd commithe
&l %o their chureh on sgiritual and material lines. The Guild VB TeOrw
ganl,ed in 1906. It has lested contimucusly ever since. Generally apesk-
ing this Gylld has been the backbone ef St. Themas’ congregational ezige
tence for 80 years or mere, These faithful wemesn supported thsir church
almost entirely until the 1940's under Arthur Beckwith, and in the 1950
under Bert Allen. In 42 years of recerded WO} 90619 58w ~~thege women
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But the accounts of the 1927 service do not tell us actually who their
NAMES WETre,. gaybﬁ%ome of them had ceme from a considerable distanse Just
for this 50% celebration, We do kmew that Mrs. Ids Nivems was there., She
wez one whe had lived in Canyon City and had been sssoclated with St.
Thomas® Chursh all her life. She and some othera in attendance were these
who hed actually ‘kept the sparks alive' since the earliest daye of A%,
Themast,

The full text of Bishop Remington's Sermon at this 50% anniversary sere
vice is preserved for us in the pages of Oregon Trail Churchman, for Nev-
ember 1927. The text which Bp. Memington chese for that mermen concerns

8 well of water---Jaceb's well at Sychar in Samaria (John 435), where

desus talked with that troubled Samsritan wemaﬁa From this as a staxt,

Bp, Remington spske of that material well of water that has flowed fresh
and sbundant all these years by the baek ef St. Thomas? Church eut of that
steep Canyon hillside. He teld of how peepls in the early days of Canyoen
City bad come in the gold rush daye for sarthly water, for earthly material

-things. But here at 5%t. Thomas! Church all down the Fears people had been

able to find another stream of living water im the person and faith of
desus Christ. So the main thrust ef By. Remington's sermon was Lo underline
and highlight the sage of the faithful few of Bt. Themas* gongregation who
had kept alive in Christian wiimess the body of Christ thru His Chursh
there in Canyon City thxu thick anfl thru thine-—mostly thinie-for 50 years.

But Bishop Remington didnt pull any ounches in his sermen. Fer in the course
of the same he maid, "Ganyon City is not grewing. In fast; it is lesing
population. Even so, it 1z the country sest of Grant County. So St. Thomas?
Church is of that much importance in this aresa. Otherwise it is Just a

‘small church in a small towne"

In closing he gave the assembled people (estimsbed at 140 ab that time)
these particular words for a2ll these who live and work in small plages,

"Jesus never hesitated to turn his theughts and work aside from his worlde

~ wide missien, and the universal greatneas of His Kingdom, to have intimate

converss with even one person---as He is doing here with this lone woman
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Sumpter Valley narvow-geuge Railroad went out of buginess for gowd,

So the Rev. Sumner Brown amd family (two litile children bad been born to
them by that time)had %o leave Prairie Gity and Canyen City by the end of
1932s Brown went back to the Discese of Massechusettes sz the directer of
Christian Education. Miss Charlotte Brewn hed lefi Burpms in 1930, to work
in Hawthorne, Nevadsm. In 1940 at age 73 she died there of CROCOT

Se the lecal leadership of the ehursh, both in Prairie and G&ﬂy@ﬁg went

back again to these fow sialwers lad ty~—=men and women~e=those fow whe kaey

the real "'water of 1ife" that their churck steed for. These peeple mainbaine
ed lay services, including funerals. Bishep Remington came eccasienally

for macramenisl services., And ence agaln the priest-rector at St. Stephents

Church, Baker, came over the Blue Heuntains from time %o time a8 "priegte

in=chargeh,

Even on the lecal level at Canyen City the strength of lomediate fisoal
support weekened drastically. Ove result of this was that the Gwild Hell,
which the ladies had wade peseible with the sweamt of thelr own hands, had
ta.ﬁe given up az a church faeility. With the reluctant approvel of Bpe
Bemington, the Guild Hall wes made over inte apartments for rent in Canyen
Chty, That is, these apartmenis were leased out for income purpesea Lo
keep St. Thomas® Church opsn and going finmncinlly. This episede became

a long, tengled and msd. tele of partioulers, which finslly led to the

- complete less and sale of the Guild Hall (just across the street from the

Church) in 19456,

No reestory, no guild hall, ne vicare—-nothing W& the church edifles, with
that smaell Y"prophetis chamber' at the bagke~~and thet spring in the steep
hlliside behind the church which ren on plentifully,

Bssldes thess setbamks ai Canyon City, the chureh in Prairie City began
to go to plegen spirvitually and financially. Basically the mople of St
John's, Prairie, just didnt have the devotion and the stamina and the
"8nd these women of
S%e Thomas® Guild in particulsr, S0, by four years after Summer Brown had

spiritual stubbornness of the people of Bt. Thodl
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In fair weather or foul Arthur Beditwith came and went 70 wles each way
over the Blue Meuntains o Canyon City. That meant dirt reads in the supe
mey, but alwost impmssible znow and frozen mud reads during thewinter. In
this way St. Thomas! Church wes kept golng, no matter wheble.eo'and his
candle goeth not eut by any might®!

In October, 1945, Bishop Remington left the District for good, afber 23
years of patient, pestoral lebor,; to ascoept & call ss an Assistant Bishep
in Philedelphis, under the Rt, Rev, Oliver J. Hert, Bishep of thet Diecess,
48 a result, the Missienary District of Esatern Oregen had te get along
witheut direct episcopal leadershbp for 12 wenths. Really, this was a very
uncertain limbe for Esstern Oregon this time. For the nationmal Episoopal
Church had almost decided to glve us Fastern Oregon as a-missi@nary dime
triet by itself. Instead, the plan wee to divide it three weys with Spe-
kane (Wash), Idahe, and the Oregon Diccese which was west across thé Capcades,

Ultimately, when the Genersl Cemventien of the Exdmcopal Church met in
Philedelphia in September, 1946, spinlon prevailed to maintain Esstern
Oregen s & viable district., Then convention procesded to elset the Hev,
Lane Wickhem Baxrton (recter st Eest Orange, N.J.) ss the third Bishep for
Eastern Oregon. After his comsecratien in St. Paul's Church, Norwalk, Ohio,
(his home parish) Bishop Barton ceme west on & quick trip te see the peeple
of all congregations that fall,

During December 1946 Bp, Barton visited avery congregation ln bis new
Jurisdiction—==30 im all at that time. His visit to St. Thomas' Church in
Canyon City tooR place (aleng with the Rew, Arthmr Beckwlth) on the evenw
ing of Dacember 3rd, 1948, Then in June, 1947, Bishop Barton and his Taodly
cage west for goed, and moved into a permanent homs and office in the city
of Bend, Oregon,

For two or three years at the beglnning of his eplscopate, Lane Berton
seemed to trying to sssess the problems and the progrems of all the CONZT G
gatiens. Finally at the distriect convecation held in Burns in the spring of
1949, things began to develep creatively toward thé future, Firet, Bp. Barton
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Then when George Cutcher was prepsring to lemve, Arthur Beckwith at Burms
anpounced that he wes golng - de@al

To emp the olimex of this whele trein ef everts, oz the last week-end ef
that Cubteher was there in Canyom Clty,e yeung leymem (34) and & candidate
for the mimistry, Albert E, Allen, and his wife Holem, sawe %o Canysn Cliy
to "lock things evepy,

Giving & responsive Y“greem light" to his Bishep (Barten), Allen wap lmmed

lately appeinted laye-reader-in-charge at 84. The Church. He seyved in

that capacity wetil his ordimebien as Descon on Outeber Ird, 1950: Ho then
bevame 8%, Thomaa! first, full time, ordeined resident alergymoni

The VResurrectlen of the church in Canyen Gity" under George Cutcher meved
on to be an “Ascenelen"” umder “Berd® Allen. Her on Ghri&z Eve, 1950,
"Bert¥ reported an attendanee of 140 peeplec..St. Thomms® aormally sests ae-
bout 120, Besides these 140, his susieally talented wife, Helen, had brought
together and treined a cheir of 21 to lead this Christmaseive Service,

What was the sddret of the “fmoensien' under Allen? (1) Allen wer & "YWemt~
ernized Massachusetis men” (Wigh School and Palversity training in Beattle),
whe had chesen Emstern regen as his hemew~-following b years in the Army

in World War II., (2) Allen was a wan-~ol~the-peeple, who had a beckgreund of
business menagemwent (J.C, Penpy stere usnags bing, and he had been

& truck driver while resding fur Hely ﬁrﬂ&rag as a Candidate for the Min=
istry frem Trinity Chureh, Bend, Ore, (3) The 1950~z were the years of a
real religieus remewal sall over the United States. (&) "Bews? was the first,
fall time, resident vicer that St. The ! Churck bad ever had, Obher slerice
hed come snd geme. Obhers hed come is Canyon Gity from obher plABGGm—-Tram
Prairie,; from Baker, from Sumpter, from Burns. Bert Allen ilved right

there on the spot. (5) The fimemolal resewrses of the national Epdsoopnl
Chureh and the district corperatien of the Bastern Cregonm Epissopel Feund-
ation wers now there at hanmd with "meed meney" (and me
to help this determined and awskened songrs
time the peeple of St. T 8¢ were beginnimg te loock frankly st themsalves;
ley, Bert Allen gives
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of whieh were not paved!

Barth Hall was bullt on two plets of land given 8%, Themes* Chureh by the
Williem Prophet family. Obther land in thet same direction was purchased by
the parish,on which to bullt thelr new regtory. Thus the new restory and
the new parish hall were begun, bullt, and ccoeupied to the great bemefit
and expansion ef the life and work of St. Thomas' Church thrusut all of
Grant County.

But during all this lecsl expansieon with district and natiopal apsistance,
note &hmb the congregation at Canyen City was paying promptly its full
sleslenary apportionment to the district emnd the natiensl chureh to the tune
of $648.00 in 19551 "From 1950«55", says Allen in his parochial reporis

eant strength from 26 %o 171: a totsl ef

176 Baptisms performed in my firat five years: a total of 119 persons pPYrge-
sented for Cenfirmatlien, to the Blahep: a climb of from 15 te 91 in Chureh
Sohool attendanse; and the increase aﬁi?@gth group from O to 36,410

"j;-we Hiheare was a grcw‘%:h in commumd

~ But then, after six sbundant yeara, Allen acgepted & call Yo meve to St.
Mark's Church, Hood River---one of the largest shurches in the distrist.

When Allen left Usmyon City, Bishop Barten appeinted Mr. J.¥W, Southworth,
& sireng and committed layman frowm Senesa, as temporary lay~reader—in-
charge, Then in October, 1957, 10 months after "Beri® left, The Rev,
"Dead-eye'l.-Dick Payne~--coming right out of theolegical seminary in the
Tagt-w-took charge of St. Themas' Church until 1960, The Chuvrch people

and others in the Canyen City comsunity had dubbed The Rev. Richard L
Payre sg "Dead-eyet-Digkbbecavse om his first Ly in hizs first deer sesson
~=that sacred (7} peried in Cct ber for all westersn he=ggn-—-—-this
born from the Eastw--shot his deer with his first bullet, right thru the
neck of the fleeing animel at about 6 AM on the first morning of his Ociw
-ober deer hunting season|

As a messure of how "sacred" the Ootober deer g4

n iz, note the following
true 8toryosco..S0ome years befers when Bishop Femington was tallding with
the Sunday School at Canyon City, and was asking them if they knew on
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Parleurs who served St. Thomas' Church and all of Grant County fer four
years, befewe going on to Trinity Chureh in the eity of Bend, Ore.

# # " & #* ] & L o L4

Then, St. Thomes® Church headed into a real "itime of troubles”] Fer ene
thing it was the problem of the sopstant mobility of the people in the
Wemt, espscially in a small town in the West, Constant mobility of fam-
ilies iz somethlng that weskens and disturbs svery small town chureh.
For it isnt the mobllity of the olergy thﬁﬁzﬁgéturbm 2 gwall chursh gon-
gregation: but wore so, it is the constant mebility of the lay people
in a small town of the Weat that move, change jehﬁ;igia premoteds

For example, in March 1873 & census bureau study revesled that 31.8-%

of the people of the United States change their residences every year,
Most of these people move from one town to amother, rather tham from ene
street to another street in the same $own. This mobile percentage of

the whele population is probebly higher in the Wests and probably highsr
still in small size towns then in larger cities, For etample, theefficle
ent young executive in the US Ferest Service in premoted from Canyon City
to Portland: the clerk in the Bureau of Land Manapgenenl is sent on to

Eu the capable telephons repairmen is psesed on to & larger positien
with the telsphone company in Klamsth Fallss the able young school
teacher tekes & new tesching pesition in Salem: the Stete Police Corporal
at Canyon City is meved te & higher positien in Baker: the skilled tise~
ber faller mevem to Burns:; the oreck melesmen at the local Ferd Agency
goes on to Bolse, Even the underiaker moves to toke ever mome new pogi-
tlon,in that ancient and honorable craft. Yes, dectors, demtists and
lawyers sometimes move, alsce

Basldes, those who meve are usually the youmg, the promising, the leader-
ship type of lay people, climbing up the econemic and social ladder of

life, The moving of such promising young peeple weakens the lpoel congre-
gatlon in their going, especlally if the movers are committed Christians
in the leocal parish church. No doubt they steengthen the other ohurch in
tthe new place where they go: but the smell chureh in the smeller commus
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turned toward an entirely nmew clerigel setup for St. Thomes' Church in Cau-
yon City, under the Hav., Richard Theweee.from 1971 on.

i
0 yearz at the Eplscopal Theelogical SchoBl ai Cambridge, K&aagszwaa

& high achool teacher and athletic diprector at Condon} Ore. Then Thew became
viceqrincipsl st the Prairie City high school. At about the same time Bishop
Spofford ordaimed him deacon and then ss prieat, and put him in charge of
Ste Thomas® Church in Canyon City.

"?gggg Thew is & born and bred Iastern Oregonisn, from Cove, After college
By Aﬁ

Thus "Dick" became a new breed of Episcopal vicars, whom we 08ll "nop-gtie
peniary priesta'. That is, he works five days & week ms high achool vice-
principal, student counsellol, and sometims foot-ball coach, at Pralrie,

He gets his major cash income from his beaching jobe On the other twe dayg

of the week he cariies on his clerical work in Canyon Clty--=fhogether with
regular gervices in Izee, Long Creek, and Sensca (all in Grant chntﬁs What
part of the weelt he ham left for his wife and growing fTemily in anothsr quesw
tions.o? He lives in a house across the sbtreet from his high school jobe

= % @ L] B ® ® &

Barth Hall l1s now paid for, It iz st the present time being ussd as 2 mulii-
purpese building for church end comsunity purpoaes. The resteory at Canyonm
City has been sold, so that, in line with Diccesasn poliey, clergy way prow
cure their own residences-—-what and where they wante Living in Prairdie, the
Thews shuttle to Canyon and all other parts of Grant Countys

With part of the money from the sgle of the reatory the people of 5%, Themss
are building a protective wall for the spring in the hiliside by the back corw
ner of the church: and them in sdditien a small, modest structure adjeined
to 8%. Thomas's This will provide in addition to the “prophetiz chamber!,

& small congregationsl gathering place for coffee heurs, social tlmenm, etc.,
after ordinsry chureh services. The parish of St. Thomza® slso payas Thew

for his housing utilities and his church Penslon premiums. It seemz to be

& very helpiul and creative step for the congregation of 8t. Thomas’ in the
Bid~1970%a,
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which this beautiful church was erected. It has never ceased flowing all
these years! It still gives material refreshment to the prophets, priests
and lay people who have dispensed the sacraments and ministered the gospel
of Christ continuously in the life of this parish church all these years!"

"The candle of the Lord" has burned in the "spirit of man" (and women) in
Ste Thomas' Church for almost 100 years! It has been mestly the spiritual
stubbornness of the laity of this church who have not let that candle go
out by any night! St. Thomas' Church had women lay readers in a day when
such a thing was almost unthinkable in the Episcopal Church—-gome thing
like the present controversy in the Episcopal Church abeut women priests,
Charlotte Brown was a full time, resident, woman lay reader in Canyon City,
Burns, Heppner, and other places.

It was the faithful lay women of the Guild,who bound themselves together in
special work and devotion, who supported St. Thomas' Church financially in
large part for years., It was the work of the faithful women of that Guild
who established that Guild Hall---even making it over into rented apart-
ments for needed church income during the deproﬁsod 1930's., These and

other men and women were the ones who did every, pessible to see to it that
this "candle of the Lord"...'went not eut by any night'}

These were the people who'keph the sparks from going out." The "candle of
the Lerd",in and thru the Episcopal Church, went out for good in other
places in Eastern Uregon—-in Prairie City, in Shaniko, In Cross Keys, in
Hardmen, in w.stonffgn Union. But not so in St. Thomas® congregation in
Canyon Citys This church has stood the tests of all sorts of difficulties,
disasters, frustrations, setbacks, and what have you, In the face of all
this and more it has maintained a fruitful ministry all these 100 years!

One result of all this is that the Oregon Commission of the Natienal Park
Service has recommended that St. Thomas' Church be recegnized and set up as
National Monument!

w & ® L L] L] o £ L L] w

This is the miracle of this centennial at St Thomas' Church! By the grace



